Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Educational Research Review

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/edurev

# At the boundary of school: Continuity and discontinuity in learning across contexts

## Larike H. Bronkhorst<sup>\*</sup>, Sanne F. Akkerman

Department of Education, Utrecht University, The Netherlands

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 27 November 2015 Received in revised form 25 March 2016 Accepted 9 April 2016 Available online 18 May 2016

Keywords: Learning across contexts Continuity Discontinuity Out-of-school learning Boundary crossing Multisystemic perspective

#### ABSTRACT

In response to various societal changes, schools are increasingly developing an outward orientation, seeking to connect to students' out-of-school participations. Simultaneously, educational research is starting to adopt a multisystemic approach to learning. Focusing on continuity and discontinuity in students' learning across school and out-of-school contexts, we synthesize 186 empirical studies. After conceptualizing school and out-of-school in relation to each other, we find that continuity can be the result of different educational intentions, but it also occurs as a given. Discontinuity is mainly found for non-mainstream students, with severe implications for students' learning and participation in school. Some studies show how different actors, including students, deliberately seek discontinuity, challenging the widespread preference for continuity. We discuss the (im)possibilities for schools in connecting to students' wider lives and advance the degrees of freedom afforded in school as an underlying condition for establishing continuity.

© 2016 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction		
	1.1. Learning across contexts	. 2	
2.	Method		
3.	Findings	. 4	
	3.1. Description of the included studies	. 4	
	3.2. Defining school	. 5	
	3.3. Continuity and discontinuity	. 5	
	3.3.1. Continuity	. 6	
	3.3.2. Discontinuity	. 7	
	3.4. Conditions for (dis)continuity	. 9	
4.	4. Discussion		
	4.1. Future research	. 11	
	Acknowledgements	11	
	References	13	

\* Corresponding author. E-mail address: l.h.bronkhorst@uu.nl (L.H. Bronkhorst).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2016.04.001 1747-938X/© 2016 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.



Review





#### 1. Introduction

Students do not stop learning upon leaving the school building. Recognition for this once-novel idea stems from a long line of educational research on learning in settings other than school, referred to by terms as informal, authentic, situated, or everyday learning. Studies exploring 'informal' learning often compare and contrast their findings to learning taking place in school. Yet, this comparison is typically made analytically, sketching, for example, how engagement in learning outside school appears rich, compared to the archetypal image that exists of students' lack of motivation and disengagement in schools (cf. Bevan, Bell, Stevens, & Razfar, 2012; Hull & Schultz, 2002).

Although analytical dichotomies and comparisons between formal and informal ways of learning have been a plausible way to categorize and reckon different activities and settings of learning, a disadvantage lies in (over)emphasizing the *context* of learning (cf. Hodkinson & Macleod, 2010). Besides easily leading to a normative impasse about what context is best (Rogoff, 2003), an emphasis on context can reinforce the idea that learning is bounded in a single time and place. It is this assumption that is often argued to be untenable (e.g., Barron, 2006; Tuomi-Gröhn & Engeström, 2003). Students participate in a wide variety of contexts on a daily basis and can be expected to experience and make connections between them – if only because they may pursue their goals and interests over time. Looking at learning as a process potentially moving across contexts is considered more ecologically valid.

For about two decades, several educational scholars have started to adopt multisystemic perspectives in studying learning, cognizant of students' daily participation across the contexts of school, home, work, peer groups, and leisure institutes (see for an overview Akkerman & Bakker, 2011). Multisystemic perspectives have generated new empirical questions about whether and how learning across different contexts takes place and about the extent and ways in which school and other contexts may simultaneously contribute to learning. Such questions can now be recognized in different areas of research, such as research on literacy development (Hull & Schultz, 2001), student engagement (Lawson & Lawson, 2013) and the use of digital technologies (Ludvigsen, Lund, Rasmussen, & Säljö, 2010).

The value of a multisystemic perspective in educational research is that it allows centralization of the process of learning and the person whom it concerns without neglecting how this process is situated within different practices and activities. Such a perspective seems especially relevant in light of several coinciding developments in contemporary societies. For one, we see how students have become more unique in terms of their specific academic, social, and, cultural backgrounds – *who* is learning (the subject) is diversifying (Hermans & Dimaggio, 2007). Second, we see how students embody their own specific contexts of participation and learning in and outside of school – *where* one learns (the sets of social and material environments) is more personal, depending on own interest groups and activities and one's local and global networks (Lankshear & Knobel, 2008; Siemens, 2014). Third, we see how the future aspirations and requirements of individual students become less predictable, depending on changing professions and societies and the qualifications that these bring to the fore – *what* is to be learned (the object) and pathways by which this occurs are more dynamic.

The sketched developments, despite being of a different nature, appear to have a similar consequence; they bring to the attention the individual student, who is socially, culturally, and academically unique and participates in his or her own set of contexts both in and outside of school, and who faces an undecided future. In light of these developments, existing predefined curricula and trajectories in schooling practices may easily appear limited or inflexible. The developments have led to new debates about what schooling is and what it should be (e.g., Biesta, 2010; Robinson, 2011; Roth, 2015). For instance, Biesta (2010) reasons that not only qualification – currently prominent as a result of accountability and standardization movements - but also socialization and subject becoming are central to education. In general, many have started to argue for a fundamental move toward personalization of learning and more adaptive and inclusive forms of education, also by stimulating schools to create partnerships and collaborate with other actors and practices concerned with the education of children and youth (e.g., Cole & Distributive Literacy Consortium, 2006; Herrington & Herrington, 2006; Lauer et al., 2006).

We aim to contribute to the current educational debate with a synthesis of the empirical literature on students' learning across school and out-of-school contexts. We think a synthesis of the emerging literature is indispensable as a body of literature addressing learning across school and out-of-school contexts is clearly emerging, but is still scattered across different research areas and traditions. Studies in abstract addressing the same phenomenon employ different theoretical frameworks, concepts, and research designs and are organized along subject-specific disciplines or levels of education, making it difficult to generalize from findings across typically small-scale studies. Bringing together the various empirical studies allows us to see what is at stake in actual situations of learning across contexts, for students and other actors involved.

In the following section, we theorize learning across contexts. Drawing on boundary crossing literature, we introduce a layered multisystemic perspective to understand students' experiences in learning across school and out-of-school contexts.

#### 1.1. Learning across contexts

Although traditionally focusing on single educational settings, educational research is showing a rapid development towards a multisystemic perspective on learning. Multisystemic perspectives acknowledge that learning can extend fixed time periods and places and, hence, can be triggered and concurrently supported by different contexts of participation in and outside of education (Ludvigsen, Lund, Rasmussen, & Säljö, 2010; Tuomi-Gröhn & Engeström, 2003). Multisystemic perspectives on learning can be traced back to efforts in different theoretical strands in social sciences, expanding the common unit of analysis of a singular individual or collective and a single context of participation. These theoretical strands include dialogical and sociocultural theories (Valsiner & Van der Veer, 2000; Wertsch, 1991), cultural historical activity theory (Engeström, 1987, 2001; Roth & Lee, 2007), ecological theory of development (Bronfenbrenner, 1979), multisite anthropology (Marcus, 1995; Star, 1989), and social network theories (Granovetter, 1983).

As mentioned, a multisystemic perspective allows centralization of the learner and the process of learning where and whenever it takes place, without neglecting the way this process is continuously situated in and responsive to various contexts. A particularly helpful conceptualization of learning across contexts can be found in literature on boundary crossing (see for a review Akkerman & Bakker, 2011). Informed by the third generation of cultural historical activity theory (Engeström 1987; 2001) and related situated and socio-cultural approaches to learning (Lave & Wenger, 1991; Star, 1989), the literature on boundary crossing shows a multilayered understanding of learning and interaction across contexts. At a systemic level, this literature theorizes contexts as culturally and historically informed, yet continuously (re)created, practices or activity systems. Contexts can be identified by considering the distinct purposes of ongoing activities, and the motives of the various people to engage in these activities (Engeström, 2009). A specific context of schooling can be distinguished from a context of leisure activity, because, for instance, the first might have the purpose of educating students for them to become more knowledgeable and skilled, whereas the leisure activity might have the purpose of development of personal interest and immediate enjoyment. Practices and their purposes can typically be recognized by highly specific, local and routinized ways of doing, talking, relating and organizing. For instance, in schools one may find specific climates of student-teacher interactions, specific procedures to assess learning in certain subject matter, or specific dress-codes, all of which can be different from what is common or valued in a leisure or home context. Naturally, simultaneously engaging in such different practices might be consequential for a person, if only in terms of shifting between different ways of positioning (i.e., between the position as student, as a beginner, as a peer, or as a child, Akkerman & Bakker, 2012; Akkerman & van Eijck, 2013). Participating in contexts and any learning resulting from this can be understood as being shaped and mediated by such contextual specifics.<sup>1</sup>

At an individual and process level, however, boundary crossing literature emphasizes and shows how people may collaborate across different practices, or make connections between their own various contexts of participation. For instance, in dual educational programs actors from school and work practices collaborate to educate students, even though the school and work practices may be very different in nature (Akkerman & Bakker, 2012). In turn, students within these programs are challenged to simultaneously participate in a school and work practice, and are expected to link knowledge and experiences in school to what they encounter at work (e.g., Tuomi-Gröhn & Engeström, 2003). It has been argued that individuals have the capacity to make such connections by making sense, translating, and integrating or actively introducing elements from one practice into another (Suchman, 1994). For instance, students can introduce questions of interest, personal concerns and related experiences or knowledge gained online into class discussions. As a consequence, learning can be continued or deliberately extended across contexts with various actors, settings, and experiences contributing to the progressive participation and expertise development in a particular domain over time.

Based on a review of boundary crossing literature, Akkerman and Bakker (2011) have referred to this phenomenon of participation and learning across contexts as continuity in action and interaction. When it comes to learning across school and out-of-school contexts, such continuity is observed. For instance, Crowley and Jacobs (2002) found how young children often develop considerable knowledge about topics of interest and that these "islands of expertise" may be used for school subjects. Their study showed how reading specific books at home or taking museum trips with parents can spark the interest of children in topics that are picked up and elaborated on in-school essays. Similarly, Bergin (1992) found that high school experiences can create leisure interests that students pursue independently outside of school.

Bearing in mind the specificity of various contexts, however, boundary-crossing research has shown how such continuity across context is not self-evident. Even despite efforts, people may come to face differences in the various participations and perspectives they try to connect, leading to discontinuities across contexts instead. In that case, what one experiences and learns in one context cannot be related to, and may even be in conflict with what one experiences and learns in another context. Clear examples of this can be found in homework situations, where students can experience how school and home norms conflict or how particular subject matter is not necessarily valued at home (e.g., Jackson, 2011). In a study by Hughes and Greenhough (2008), for instance, a mother intends to help her child with his homework, yet differences of opinion about the appropriate method for carrying out subtractions lead to a tension-laden argument. Discontinuities require people either to shift in position and perspective or leave them troubled (Akkerman & Bakker, 2011). In the latter case, discontinuity can have severe consequences for educational trajectories in terms of potential disengagement and drop-out. Studies on duallearning programs for example show how students are more likely to quit the program when they continue to face difficulties relating what they learn in school to what they experience at the workplace (e.g., Alsup, 2006). Similarly, Hattam and Smyth (2003) describe the alienating experiences reported by students for whom maintaining an academic identity proved to be impossible given their background, also leading to early drop-out of school.

Summarizing, a boundary crossing perspective sensitizes us to the way in which various contexts such as school and outof-school settings can be very different in purpose, meaning, and form, but also to the way students' learning may take place across contexts, despite such differences. Learning across contexts then can be viewed as a process of prolonged engagement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At the same time, we should keep in mind that contexts are not "static backgrounds", as individuals "in" a context also produce that same context (e.g., Engeström, 2009; Leander, 2001).

with a particular content or activity. Whether this is the case or not can be captured as instances of *continuity* or *discontinuity* in learning across contexts.

Despite the rich descriptions of these instances provided by typically small-scale studies, it is still unclear what constitutes continuity or discontinuity, as these studies depart from different theoretical frameworks, utilize different concepts, and employ different research designs. Generalization of findings is further impeded by the fact that research tends to be organized and communicated within subject-specific disciplines or levels of education. Mapping the various situations of continuity and discontinuity in learning across school and out-of-school contexts scattered throughout the literature allows revealing current insights as well as issues deserving more attention. It also allows us to deduce the conditions under which learning across school and out-of-school continuities in learning across school and out-of-school contexts can take place. Therefore, we aim to synthesize the various studies, questioning: In what situations and under what conditions do continuities and discontinuities in learning across school and out-of-school contexts occur?

#### 2. Method

For this interpretative review, we conducted a paired literature search in ERIC and PsycINFO, combining:

- 1) the terms school OR education AND terms coined specifically for learning across contexts<sup>2</sup>
- 2) terms for out-of-school (i.e., non-school, after school, beyond school, outside school) AND learning (or synonyms<sup>3</sup>) in the title or abstract.

We limited the search to peer-reviewed studies, as we were looking for high-quality empirical studies. We conducted the search in January 2014 and included all articles prior to and published in 2013. The searches resulted in 881 unique abstracts.

Following our aims and research question, only empirical studies written in English that focused on learning in more than formal education were selected for inclusion. Thereby theoretical essays, educational program descriptions, and summaries of existing literature, as well as studies not explicitly addressing learning processes or outcomes (e.g., on school drop-out) were excluded. In the inclusion process, we adhered to the authors' definition of school and out-of-school context. In case of doubt, the full text was read. In seven cases, the full-text could not be retrieved, even after contacting the first author. After reading 227 articles, another 41 articles were excluded, as they did not meet the inclusion criteria.

The remaining 186 studies were first summarized and then analyzed in terms of: (a) contextual information (including domain, sample, study design, and country), (b) conceptual information (including characterizations of school and out-of-school contexts), (c) findings reported for dis/continuity in learning, and (d) conditions for (re)establishing continuity. Concerning (d), our analysis was sensitized by concepts from boundary crossing literature (cf. Akkerman & Bakker, 2011).

In the results section, we first provide a description of the included studies (using results from a), followed by a definition of school and out-of-school in relation to each other (using results from b). With respect to (c), four manifestations of (dis) continuity were identified, which are described subsequently. The results section ends with a description of the conditions for (re)establishing continuity (based on d). In light of the size of our sample, we report on the main findings with reference to specific studies for illustration.

#### 3. Findings

#### 3.1. Description of the included studies

An overview of the date of publication suggests a rapidly growing body of literature, as only 26 studies were published prior to 2000. As summarized in Appendix A (supplementary), the 186 studies reviewed address different levels of education, ranging from pre-school to adult education. Most studies concern primary and secondary education and a wide variety of outof-school practices related to these levels of education; only a few studies focus on learning across contexts in vocational and teacher education.<sup>4</sup>

The studies are concerned with different (school) subject matters, although literacy and STEM were studied more than other subjects as reflected in the journals wherein the studies were published.<sup>5</sup> This is possibly because literacy and STEM are high-stake subjects, dominant in academic standards and for which established measures are available, but perhaps (also) because engagement and student diversity are particularly challenging in these subjects. Other studies did not necessarily focus on learning single-subject matter but focused on more generic skills, such as regulation and meta-cognition, or broader progressive participation and development, such as school engagement and identity development.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Search terms: Boundar\*-cross\* or cross\*-boundar\* or recontextual\*or informal-learn\*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Search terms: Boundar\*-cross\* or cross\*-boundar\* transition\* or transfer\* or recontextual\* or integrat\* or learn\* or study\*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This small number of studies contrasts the existing tradition of research on learning across contexts of vocational and teacher education programs (cf. Tuomi-Gröhn & Engeström, 2003). In these traditions, other concepts are employed to refer to out-of-school learning, such as learning at work and work-related learning, which are unmanageable to include in a literature search (Tynjälä, 2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As a result of an international project on motivation for music across school and out-of-school, music education was discussed in 10 articles.

In terms of the students studied, a substantial number (N = 73) of the articles explores the learning of learners singled out as marginal. This includes students with low achievement scores, those considered at risk or labeled as minorities because of cultural or linguistic backgrounds; it also includes students with high achievement scores or labeled as talented. The dominant focus on marginal (groups of) learners could be due to the fact that many of the investigated out-of-school contexts are targeted toward these students, as their lack of school engagement is often found to be more problematic (e.g., Grolnick, Farkas, Sohmer, Michaels, & Valsiner, 2007).

The reviewed studies have been conducted in a wide variety of (mainly) Western societies, although all continents are represented. A dominant amount of work (75%) originated in Anglo-Saxon countries. Next to a potential language bias, this could also be the result of the relatively long tradition with out-of-school initiatives in these countries.

#### 3.2. Defining school

The conceptual distinction between school and out-of-school contexts varied extremely across the studies, regardless of the specific terminology used. With definitions frequently lacking, it was challenging to interpret the object of investigation and to compare or generalize from the studies. It should be noted that definitions are always relative, indicating simultaneously what something is and what it is not. Hence, defining school is simultaneously about defining what is out-of-school. A summing up of what is implicitly or explicitly meant by "out-of-school" in the reviewed studies reveals characteristics of school in its most traditional form. Table 1 summarizes these characteristics.

As obvious as this list may seem, it immediately shows how school, as a context, stands for many things at once. It reflects a deliberate intention towards learning. It also reflects teachers and students as central actors in an expert-novice type of relationship. Typically, school also reflects a curriculum, hence, displaying content, a structure, and following a certain rhythm. This is regardless of the specifics of such curricula, which typically change over time in response to societal discussions of what is valued and needed. Furthermore, school is often associated with validation of the intended learning by means of assessment methods. Here, several scholars have pointed to the growing culture of assessment, now visible in formal education, and the increasing risk of starting to value what we can measure rather than focusing on the question of how we can measure what we value (see Biesta, 2010). In terms of students' development, the school system reflects cumulative qualification, typically leading to educational trajectories that are staged by successive classes and educational levels and with grades and diplomas functioning as the "rite de passage". Not unimportant is the conception of school as a building, hence, a practice that may be strongly associated with a defined place and particular architecture. Finally, school stands for education that is mandatory, as often locally managed by attendance lists, gatekeepers, and a punishment system. Obviously, the latter characteristic is considered important from the students' perspective.

Overall, the various characterizations in the literature show how school contexts are typically highly regulated learning environments; in contrast, out-of-school contexts seem to allow for more time and space for students' personal interests. Nonetheless, several studies describe school contexts that allow for flexibility and adaptability (e.g., Maloch, 2005; Skerrett, 2010) and, vice versa, out-of school contexts may turn out to be highly regulated learning environments (e.g., Hock, Pulvers, Deshler, & Schumaker, 2001; James-Burdumy, Dynarski, & Deke, 2007; Tucker, Chennault, Brady, & Fraser, 1995). The reviewed studies also reflect local and situational differences between what various actors, such as students and teachers, each considered to be the school or out-of-school context. For example, whereas the designers of an after school media club intended students to pursue activities that might not be taken up at school, one of the students kept referring to the club as "a class" (Heron-Hruby, Hagood, & Alvermann, 2008). The various characterizations of the school and out-of-school contexts will also be evident in the following, when we report on the manifestations of continuity and discontinuity.

#### 3.3. Continuity and discontinuity

The reviewed studies describe how different actors involved in the students' learning process experience or display continuity, discontinuity or both, leading us to discern four manifestations of (dis)continuity in the reviewed literature, summarized in Table 2. Single studies typically report more than one manifestation, illustrating how (dis)continuity can vary between students (e.g., with different backgrounds), between actors (e.g., teachers and students) and over time, but also for different yet interrelated learning processes (e.g., literacy and identity).

Table 1	
Typical characteristics of school.	

Characteristics
Learning is intended
Students and teachers as main actors, with teachers as knowledgeable others
What and how one learns is formalized in a curriculum
Validation of learning by assessment
Cumulative qualification
School building
Mandatory attendance

#### 3.3.1. Continuity

A first set of studies reports on intended continuity; that is, practices designed and implemented in educational settings intending to (re-)establish continuity between school and out-of-school. What characterizes these studies is their up-front acknowledgement of the importance of connecting to out-of-school, empirically describing and/or evaluating interventions for that purpose (e.g., Al-Azami, Kenner, Ruby, & Gregory, 2010; Dori & Tal, 2000).

As a rule, intended continuity efforts are sponsored by one of two seemingly contrasting rationales. The first rationale is rooted in literature on informal learning and authentic education and stresses that out-of-school contexts with thematic similarity to school are more authentic, rich, and/or meaningful, offering possibilities for informal or more engaging learning (e.g., Nielsen, Nashon, & Anderson, 2009). The informal is typically contrasted to students' lack of engagement found in school, identifying out-of-school contexts to be of complementary value to school. For example, by using receipts, "authentic mathematics" is introduced in the classroom (Bonotto, 2005).

The second rationale is rooted in the literature on responsive pedagogy, critical pedagogy, dialogically oriented pedagogy, and socio-cultural theories (cf. Ghee, Walker, & Younger, 1997), which takes a critical stance towards the dominant school norm, culture, or standard. It is reasoned that for some children, experiences in school are not only different but essentially contradictory to their experiences out of school. For example, at home – the typical out-of-school context considered with this rationale – different languages or modalities are used, which are not actively endorsed or not even allowed at school (McTavish, 2009). This rationale stresses how schools are currently lacking in connecting to and hence engaging those students who are referred to as marginalized. As such, interventions sometimes include more fundamental alterations to school content, by allowing, for example, different languages (de la Piedra & Araujo, 2012) or modalities (Walsh, 2007) to be used in class or by accepting the use of everyday literacy next to academic literacy (Skerrett, 2012). Despite their different points of departure, both rationales fundamentally advocate that learning in school could be more engaging by relating to out-of-school practices; the interventions developed are of similar nature and can be described in terms of representations, hybrids, and visits – or combinations of these.

A first way of intending continuity is by using objects or persons as representations of practices, predominantly by bringing into school (a representation of) assorted out-of-school contexts (e.g., Miller, 2012; Sherwood, Kinzer, Hasselbring, & Bransford, 1987). In the boundary crossing literature such objects and persons are referred to respectively as boundary objects and brokers (Akkerman & Bakker, 2011). Examples include efforts to make the school content more engaging by representing students' interests in class, for instance, with using rap lyrics (Hallman, 2009; Heron-Hruby et al. 2008; Polman, 2006), new media, or online technology (Hung, Lee, & Lim, 2012; Walsh, 2007) or by personalizing instruction to match students' interests all together (Walkington, 2013). The objects in question can also represent the "real" practice outside of school (e.g., the science outside of school as reported in the study of Varelas, Kane, & Wylie, 2011). Objects can also illustrate how school content plays a role in students' wider lives, informing students, teachers, and sometimes parents of potential connections. For example, in the study by Smythe and Toohey (2009), students created pictures depicting how literacy played a role in their out-of-school contexts. In terms of persons, Duran, Duran, Perry-Romero, and Sanchez (2001) describe how role models from the community, representing home situations and possible futures, are invited in an after-school project to explain how literacy and computer skills had empowered their lives. Studies also describe how objects and persons representing school are introduced to out-of-school contexts (typically home), including student planners (Lenters & McTavish, 2013), video recordings of lessons (Feiler, Greenhough, Winter, Salway, & Scanlan, 2006), home science assignments (Solomon, 2003), and of course homework itself (Lacasa, Reina, & Alburguergue, 2002).

Second, *hybrid practices* are created in which constituents from school and out-of-school interact. Such hybrids, generally referred to as after-school, are practices with properties of both school and out-of-school, particularly in terms of the content (e.g., school and community science in Roth & Lee, 2004), the actors involved (e.g., teachers, parents and community members in Hughes & Gadanidis, 2010) and regulation (e.g., play and teaching in Bussert-Webb, 2009). The Fifth Dimension is a widely known example of a hybrid, where children learn abilities valued in school through participation in out-of-school practices, such as through (computer) games (Blanton, Menendez, Moorman, & Pacifici, 2003; Gutierrez, Bien, Selland, &

Table 2

Description of the manifestations of (dis)continuity and corresponding types of situations.

Manifestations	Types of situations
Intended continuity	using representations (objects and/or persons) from other contexts
Actors deliberately seek to connect contexts	r creating hybrids of contexts
by:	organizing occasional visits to or structural stays in other contexts
Given continuity	engaging in similar activities across various contexts drawing on resources and experiences in various
Actors report a connection between contexts in terms of:	contexts
Given discontinuity	school context is structurally and/or culturally not attuned to other diverse and primary contexts of
Actors report a lack of connection between contexts because:	participation, typically home in primary and secondary education and work settings in dual programs
Intended discontinuity Actors deliberately disconnect contexts to:	create distance and difference learn

Pierce, 2011). The breadth and depth of the reported initiatives reveal just how much effort has already been devoted in many settings to adjust education in such a way that it connects more or better to students' out-of-school participations.

A third way of intended continuity is by taking students to *visit out-of-school contexts*, either on a single occasion or structurally as part of the educational program (e.g., internships). Single occasion visits described in the reviewed studies include museums (Cox-Petersen, Marsh, Kisiel, & Melber, 2003; Holmes, 2011; Tal & Morag, 2007; Tran, 2007), a zoo (Randler, Kummer, & Wilhelm, 2012), a botanical garden (Sellmann & Bogner, 2013), a student lab at the university (Glowinski & Bayrhuber, 2011), and an amusement park (Nielsen et al., 2009). Structural visits to out-of-school contexts occur in vocational or higher educational programs, described in the reviewed literature in terms of internships. In this third way of intended continuity, the out-of-school context is typically an educational(ized) setting, either institutionally or resulting from the inclusion of accompanying school assignments, intending to support students in establishing continuity, journaling being a frequent example (e.g., Ensor, 2001).

Next to intended continuity, continuity can also occur as a given. Given continuity is either deduced from the observation that students engage in similar activities in and out of school or is observed directly, when students report how both in and out-of-school contexts have informed their understanding of a particular topic of theme. In studies exploring continuity in terms of similar activities, the out-of-school contexts are defined as not *at* school. Examples include physical exercise (Koka & Hein, 2003; Papaioannou, 1997), speaking a minority language (Knubb-Manninen, 1988; Murtagh, 2007), and being involved in music (Campbell, Connell, & Beegle, 2007; Hentschke, 2010). Studies reporting on continuity in terms of how understandings of a particular theme result from different participations, for example concern students' understanding of democracy (Hoskins, Janmaat, & Villalba, 2012), history (Barton & Levstik, 2008, Barton and McCully, 2010; Carretero & Kriger, 2011), technology (Barron, 2004), HIV/AIDS (Brotman, Mensah, & Lesko, 2011), or relate to students' idiosyncratic interests more generally (Barron, 2006).

In the studies pointing to given continuity, students themselves report contexts contributing to a particular learning process, school not necessarily being the primary context. The relative contribution of school to learning becomes clear in a few retrospective studies, tracing the learning of a particular content (e.g., scale in Jones & Taylor, 2009), or a disposition (e.g., towards science instruction in Smith, 2005) over time and concluding that school seems to have had, according to the actors, only modest impact on what was learned.

It should be noted that given continuity seems to occur effortlessly and sometimes without student or teacher awareness (e.g., Furman & Barton, 2006). This should not be taken as a sign that no prior effort has been made to establish it by a teacher, student, or other actor. A study of Barton and McCully (2010) shows the effort that given continuity may require, in their case concerning the efforts of students in deliberately connecting different school and everyday sources for refining and extending their understanding of historical events. Efforts can also be recognized in educational designs, such as sharing chair/time in elementary education as a way for children to bring in their out-of school lives (e.g., Mariage, 2000).

Studies reporting given continuity as a main finding frequently depart from an ecological framework. Studies with a different point of departure, report given continuity as a surprising finding. For instance, Anderson, Lucas, Ginns, and Dierking (2000) aimed at studying the impact of a school visit by looking at an interactive science museum and subsequent classroom activities, examining the knowledge constructions of students. Unexpectedly, these authors found that students drew strongly on experiences from several other contexts (e.g., home context) in constructing cohesive theories about magnetism. Reliance on other experiences however, did not necessarily lead to the desired outcomes by teachers.

Intended or given, the studied situations of continuity in learning across in and out of school make clear that in and out of school contexts can simultaneously impact students' learning. As expected, the reviewed studies suggest that this continuity in learning across contexts is valuable, enriching students' understanding (e.g., Johansson & Sandberg, 2012), increasing students' engagement (e.g., Nielsen et al., 2009), and leading to higher grades (e.g., Alexander, Entwisle, & Olson, 2001, 2007).

In the reviewed studies, scholars also point to the backdrop of continuity, as continuity also entails that schools no longer having the monopoly on students' learning process; as the learning environment cannot be entirely regulated, what is learned can come to differ per person and evolve over time (e.g., Lantz-Andersson, Vigmo, & Bowen, 2013). In terms of outcomes, continuity implies that "unintended" (learning) outcomes may occur, which can challenge the educational perspective. This indicates that continuity may be demanding for teachers who, as stressed by McPhail (2013), are typically held accountable for adhering to the curriculum and providing students with relevant content knowledge. Continuity in students' learning across school and out of school, therefore, not only impacts students and their learning but also various other actors involved in education.

#### 3.3.2. Discontinuity

The reviewed literature also portrays various cases in which learning processes are hampered across time and space. For some students, such discontinuity is a given, as they are structurally unable to relate their experiences in school to those out of school (e.g., Ghiso & Campano, 2013; Kenner, Gregory, Ruby, & Al-Azami, 2008; Tyler, Brown-Wright et al., 2010). Given discontinuity is mainly reported for students who, in some way or another, are (seen as) different from the standard student, including minority students, students for whom the language of instruction is a second language, students with a low SES background, students with or at risk for low achievement, but also talented students (see Appendix A). These studies make clear that the main reason for these students experiencing discontinuity is the general attunement of school to the standard or average student in terms of learning abilities, culture, and language. As a result, these students are often the (only) ones moving between different contexts. They struggle with successfully crossing the boundaries and cannot, for example, find a

way to connect the values or academic language at school to the language or values that are central at home (e.g., Phelan, Davidson, & Cao, 1991). Teachers' lack of knowledge of students' out-of-school contexts (Skerrett, 2012; Smythe & Toohey, 2009), often differing from their background, makes it more difficult, as teachers also fail to recognize, connect to, and encourage the use of the unique backgrounds, abilities, and expertise that students may bring into the classroom (e.g., Andrews & Yee, 2006; Phelan et al., 1991).

The reviewed studies not only consistently describe challenges of discontinuity that marginalized students face in school, but often also describe specific initiatives that are targeted at overcoming this discontinuity (e.g., Feiler, 2005; McTavish, Streelasky, & Coles, 2012). Such initiatives are frequently situated at the periphery of school practice, for example, initiatives in special classes or in after school settings, with activities for which other rules and assessment procedures apply and/or with a more favorable student-to-teacher ratio (e.g., Skerrett, 2012). The descriptions of these initiatives suggest that this periphery of schooling affords more freedom for teachers to adapt to particular students. This reasoning is supported by Kenner and Ruby (2013) who, among others, stress that these initiatives "operate in marginalized spaces that, precisely because of their exclusion from mainstream discourse, give teachers greater flexibility to create a curriculum responsive to their students' needs" (p. 3).

Discontinuity is also reported as a given for mainstream students in educational programs that have institutionalized an out-of-school context as part of their program (i.e. as an internship), typically in programs with a strong vocational orientation. In teacher education, for example, Nolen, Horn, Ward, and Childers (2011) find that what students learn at the teacher education institute needs to be recontextualized in their internships in schools, which is demanding for all students involved, leaving them troubled, at least temporarily. Harris and Simons (2006) describe how incorporating internships in enterprises in vocational education and training programs entails overlaying an educational practice on existing practices, bringing about tensions, not only for students but also for the educators and stakeholders in the various contexts. These findings indicate that students and other actors involved are not necessarily successful in learning across the different contexts, although this is intended by and part of their educational program. Recognition for this fact has given rise to research exploring ways of reestablishing continuity (e.g., McDonald et al., 2011), by employing and studying the same kind of representations of out-ofschool contexts that we described for intended continuity.

Noteworthy is our finding that discontinuity can also be intended. Schools and teachers themselves not only strive for continuity but also deliberately attempt to keep (part of) the out-of-school out of their schools. Often coinciding with intended continuity initiatives, cases where schools intend for discontinuity show that while some aspects of out-of-school contexts might be attractive for schools, not all are deemed appropriate for (learning in) school. For instance, while street or popular culture are eagerly used as vehicles for student engagement in social studies and history discussions, the violence often depicted is considered inappropriate (Polman, 2006). Other examples wherein different rules apply in school and out-of-school contexts, concern the school-appropriate use of social media technology (Clark, Logan, Luckin, Mee, & Oliver, 2009; Greenhow & Robelia, 2009), behavior and dress code (Polman & Miller, 2010) and language use (Clachar, 2004). Heron-Hruby et al. (2008, p. 325) describe a teachers' reasoning behind not letting her students use rap in her classrooms, as, next to rap being inappropriate language at school, the teacher wants the student to learn how "to tailor her language to the setting she is in. I try to tell her, you have to use different language depending on where you are." Another example where discontinuity is intended by a teacher to support students' learning is the study of Aström (2012). He describes how physical education teachers deliberately use simplified rules and different logic in their sports lessons in school, deliberately creating discontinuity so that "expectations of the real sports disappear" (p. 125) and students can all have the same starting point.

Students themselves also report intended discontinuity, deliberately seeking distance and difference between school and out-of-school. In these studies, students do not wish to align with school goals, norms, or ways of working; they verbally or physically disengage from school practice by choice. For example, Ensor (2001) finds that during their internship at school student teachers consciously disregarded the theory they had been offered in university teacher education classes, when they considered it inappropriate for their teaching. Similarly, Tanggaard (2007) finds that students in vocational education actively disengage with either their school or work context in order to fully participate in the other. Reasons suggested by the scholars for students' intended discontinuity are that students consider schools to be a bleak version of the non-school practice in which they are involved (Zimmerman, 2012) or that students can somehow benefit from maintaining different positions in different practices, for instance, to maintain their image with peers or teachers (Furman & Barton, 2006). Furman and Barton (2006), Nolen et al. (2011), and Zimmerman (2012) all report how discontinuity intended by students follows after deliberate attempts by programs, teachers, and parents to establish continuity, hence, it might be a sort of counter-reaction. After testifying that a student uses a different yet successful counting strategy at home without wanting the teachers to know about it, Andrews and Yee (2006) argue that "[t]his presents an interesting challenge from a child's perspective to the assumption or belief that bringing the worlds of home and school closer together is desirable for all" (p. 442–443).

Overall, discontinuity in learning across school and out-of-school implies that school remains disconnected from other participations. The reviewed studies indicate that this disconnect can have different implications. As expected, discontinuity can result in disengagement with school (e.g., Delgado-Gaitan, 1988) and potentially have far-reaching consequences in terms of students' disidentification and drop out (e.g., Kozoll & Osborne, 2004). Phelan et al. (1991) are the first of the reviewed studies to report on the considerable effects discontinuity can have as "[i]t is frequently so painful that, over time, these students develop reasons and rationales to protect themselves against further distress" (Phelan et al., 1991, p. 240). Rogers (2004) portrays the lasting effects of disidentification with school on learner identities until adulthood.

In sharp contrast, a few studies report how discontinuity triggers or requires redefining and brings about learning (e.g., Grineski, 2003; Leeman, Rabin, & Roman-Mendoza, 2011). For instance, Grineski (2003) describes that student teachers reported how their understanding of factors influencing youth development needed to be transformed after having acted as mentors for children from disadvantaged backgrounds. Although there appears to be a general preference for continuity, there is also some recognition for this potential of discontinuity for learning in the reviewed studies (e.g., Nielsen et al., 2009). Departing from this assumption, Maddock, Drummond, Koralek, and Nathan (2007) describe how several schools deliberately invited creative practitioners to work with their students on innovative responses to contemporary issues, expecting the practitioners' approach to disrupt and thereby challenge existing schooling routines.

#### 3.4. Conditions for (dis)continuity

In the reviewed literature, various conditions are mentioned for (re)establishing and sustaining continuity. Overall, it becomes clear that similarity of school and out-of-school contexts enhances a sense of continuity, not requiring specific efforts (cf. Demerath, Lynch, Milner, Peters, & Davidson, 2010; Phelan et al., 1991). Nonetheless, even if school and out-of-school contexts are different, there are ways to (re)establish continuity. In line with the literature on boundary crossing, the reviewed literature points to brokers, boundary objects, and boundary interactions as key ways to (re)establish continuity (Akkerman & Bakker, 2011), although the reviewed studies do not necessarily use these terms.

With respect to the broker position, the reviewed literature underscores how some individuals appear to be more skilled to act as broker, as has been suggested by Walker and Nocon (2007). This so-called competence as broker is highlighted by looking at the contrasting cases of given discontinuity, where students and other actors have difficulties connecting various participations versus intended discontinuity, where various actors appear to be capable of (deliberately) shifting between contexts. In these cases, students show a good understanding of the different expectations in the different contexts (e.g., Furman & Barton, 2006). In recognition of this, supporting students in being able to cross boundaries independently is discussed in the reviewed studies. For instance, different authors discuss the importance of learning how different rules apply to different settings (e.g., Bonotto, 2005; Hildebrand, Spafford, & Schryer, 2009). The reviewed studies show that teachers can also demonstrate an ability to act as broker in school, supporting students in learning across contexts. This ability is mainly reported when teachers have a similar (minority) background as the students and, hence, a better understanding of the out-of-school context (de la Piedra & Araujo, 2012).

With respect to boundary objects and interactions, it is noteworthy that in the majority of the studies, their introduction, as well as the teachers' role as broker, were purposefully designed and introduced by school. Such one-sided development could constrain the embodiment of multiple meanings and perspectives that define boundary objects (Akkerman & Bakker, 2011).

While these ways to re-establish continuity hold potential, they also bring about new challenges, which are mainly discussed in relation to school, as school is mostly held responsible for students' learning across contexts (see also Table 3). First, when schools seek to introduce out of school practices in school by means of representations or visits, this can entail engaging with (elements of) practices with which teachers have little affinity or expertise. Technology is a well-known example where students are expected to have and often show more expertise (e.g., Xiao & Carroll, 2007). As a result, the changes to the school content can be "superficial", with students immediately diagnosing them as (futile) attempts at connecting to their wider lives or the outside world that do not mediate learning. This has been referred to as sugarcoating (Pugh, 2004; drawing on Dewey, 1913), and we concur with Polman (2006, p. 250) that "[e]ducators cannot merely bring in artifacts from domains of persistent engagement in hopes of learners' positive disposition toward the material 'infecting' identity trajectories in a wholly different community of practice."

When the changes to the school practice are (more) fundamental, for instance, by allowing a different modality (i.e. an adjustment of the rules and tools of school), a second challenge emerges, as schools need to ensure that all mandated content also be covered (Skerrett, 2011). This dilemma increases in cases where students' out-of-school practice is actually contradictory to or unaccepted at school, as is the case with, for instance, different 'Englishes' (Clachar, 2004) or conflicting information sources (Brotman et al., 2011).

A third group of challenges comes to the fore when schools seek to extend their influence in other practices, for instance, by using homework assignments. These assignments can be interpreted differently by other actors and can even be actively contested (Lenters & McTavish, 2013). Additionally, visits – of varying duration – to out-of-school contexts are typically accompanied by an educational infrastructure. Such attempts at modeling the out-of-school practice to resemble, match, or

## Table 3 (Im)possibilities for school to establish continuity.

Possibilities	Challenges	
Utilizing:	Going beyond sugarcoating	
• Brokers	Simultaneously meeting standards	
• Boundary objects	Considering educationalizing	
• Boundary interactions	Ensuring sustainability	
Underlying condition: degrees of freedom afforded	by school	

While the positive and negative effects and subtleties of sugarcoating and educationalizing call for further research, a remaining discussion of a somewhat different nature is to what extent the current educational system can more structurally allow for the intended adaptability and inclusion. With most studies reporting first-time interventions and short-term outcomes, the reviewed studies therefore also lead to a question of sustainability, that is, whether and how the initiatives can be effectively realized in the long-term, especially since they are highly time and resource consuming and often seen as "extra".

Considering these challenges, there appears to be one main underlying condition for (re)establishing continuity with outof-school contexts: that is, the *degrees of freedom* afforded in school. With degrees of freedom, we mean the freedom to accommodate out-of-school elements in the school, institute, or system. This freedom can refer to, first of all, time and space allowed in a lesson or curriculum to address out-of-school aspects of students' lives, for instance, having students share their own experiences related to the subject matter. Recognition for the need for such time and space is particularly seen in initiatives based on given discontinuity findings, where there is awareness among the studied teachers that there is a need to connect to students who otherwise would not be engaged in the lesson. Secondly, this freedom can refer to the adaptations made in school to not only recognize students' wider lives but to also validate students' out-of-school participations, for instance, by including it in assignments and assessments. This freedom for validation is already common in educational programs with internships. A last and more far-reaching expression of freedom is when the outcomes and content of schoollearning processes are left open (for discussion); in the reviewed literature, this latter type of freedom is typically not scheduled as part of standard curricula but allotted to extra-curricular time and space. The various studies reporting on initiatives to overcome discontinuity suggest that schools can differ strongly in the extent to which they allow for such alterations, seemingly more when a school takes differences between students as a point of departure (Milian & Pearson, 2005).

#### 4. Discussion

In the introduction of this literature review, we argued that educational research has been expanding its scope by developing a multisystemic perspective and looking at the way learning takes place, not only within a single (school) context but also across school and out-of-school contexts. Such explorations are highly relevant and timely, as the landscape of education is fundamentally changing; the position of school is no longer fixed and dominant but increasingly considered in relation to the equal contributions of out-of-school contexts to learning. In light of these changes in the educational and scientific field, we set out to review the literature, asking: *In what situations and under what conditions do continuities and discontinuities in learning across school and out-of-school contexts occur*?

Our answers to this question start with recognizing that school and out-of-school contexts do not reflect a fixed underlying dichotomy but a permeable analytic distinction. What defines school depends very strongly on the local context and characteristics that are under scrutiny of researchers. It is important to highlight this finding, as this means that school itself is a questionable concept. Only in its most strict form does school refer to a highly regulated learning environment, that is, a formal and institutionalized educational practice and place that is aimed at fully planned, guided, regulated, and validated forms of learning (see Table 1 for typical characteristics of school). As becomes visible throughout the review, actual school contexts differ to a great extent and are under influence of the new initiatives that are undertaken, by adapting and, in some cases, deliberately connecting to other contexts of participation to enhance student learning. Similarly, out-of-school contexts can be opposite to school contexts but may also show many typical school characteristics.

With respect to the *situations* in which continuities and discontinuities occur, we find similar multiplicity; the reviewed literature indicates that continuities and discontinuities are not tied to specific situations but rather occur within and across different subject domains, levels of education, institutions, and countries. Based on the reviewed literature and in light of the current debates on education, we distinguished between intended and given (dis)continuity (see Table 2). Intended continuity is reported for initiatives that depart from the assumption that out-of-school contexts have distinct characteristics and afford learning in a way that school does or cannot. The inclusiveness and responsiveness of these initiatives shows promise, their design demonstrates originality and resourcefulness, and their results indicate richer engagement and learning. It should be noted that in spite of all this, initiatives intending for continuity do not secure continuity and they can bring about (additional) discontinuities, revealed by research on programs that have deliberately institutionalized out-of-school contexts. Studies reporting given continuity highlight how continuity in learning across school and out of school also occurs without visible effort and sometimes even without student or teacher awareness (of its consequences). The literature reporting given continuity reminds us of the potential learning ecology that we need to be continuously aware of as educators and researchers, to develop better explanations and support of learning processes. As also stressed by Barron (2006, p. 193), "by focusing on schools and labs as primary research sites we miss opportunities to investigate learning when it flows from the initiatives of the learner and his or her companions across time and settings."

Distinguishing given from intended discontinuity foregrounds important differences in the nature and consequences of discontinuity. Given discontinuity chiefly concerns marginalized students – those students who are considered to be a minority, academically at risk, or both, with potentially far-reaching negative effects. This elucidates the importance for educators to adapt education to individual students, especially to those for whom education can possibly make the difference.

In contrast, in situations of intended discontinuity, the differences and distance between school and out-of-school contexts are not avoided but deliberately sought by schools but also by individual students. Studies on intended discontinuity create awareness for educators as well as researchers that continuity is not always desirable and that some differences and distance between school and students' life outside of school can be valuable in their own right.

Considering the *conditions* under which continuities and discontinuities in learning across school and out-of-school contexts occur, our findings highlight the complicated challenges schools face in connecting to out-of-school contexts (see also Table 3). These include going beyond sugarcoating (i.e., superficial alterations without consequences for learning and teaching) in connecting to out-of-school, (also) meeting existing curricular standards, especially if out-of-school is contradictory to school, deliberating when and where educationalizing (i.e., imposing an educational structure, canceling out unique properties of out-of-school) is (still) constructive and ensuring sustainability of the initiatives with scarce resources, not in the least time.

In light of these challenges, the importance of *degrees of freedom* afforded in school comes to the fore. This freedom can range from time and space allowed in lessons and the overall curriculum, to recognition and validation of learning taking place out of school and, ultimately, to allow some alteration of content and outcomes, hence, leaving open what is valued and validated in the first place. Precisely at the point of freedom, the current school system finds itself in an almost impossible balance. Whereas current societal developments require schools to become fundamentally adaptive to individual students, schools' most typical characteristics do not seem to allow for such flexibility. It can be noted that these characteristics cannot simply be changed; they are historically shaped and informed by a widely held political and economic ideology towards qualification for all and with academic standards in several highly valued subjects. Along with increasing emphasis on institutional performance and accountability, such ideology enforces standardization in education rather than flexibility and open outcomes (Biesta, 2010; Roth, 2015).

#### 4.1. Future research

This review should be seen as a first step in understanding learning across school and out-of-school contexts and in identifying the key elements in this process. As most of the reviewed studies concern single case studies, more systematic and larger-scale research is valuable for determining patterns of given (dis)continuity, as well as when and where continuity but also discontinuity is intended, all in relation to students' age, level of education, subjects of interest, and contexts of participation. Given the subtleties that have become visible in the reviewed studies, large-scale research should not forget to include the specificities of the school and out-of-school contexts of individual students. More specifically, our understanding of learning across contexts would benefit from exploring in what respects, if any, out-of-school differs from school, according to students, empirically. What is key here, is to study learning across contexts in terms of different practices, going beyond identifying contexts based on moments of time (e.g., in and after school time) and place (e.g., in or outside the school building), except when such aspects are found to be consequential for the way in which interactions and activities and learning processes take place (as turned out to be the case in Jenner & Jenner, 2007; Polman, 2006). This seems especially pertinent as our analysis has reaffirmed how school, although easily diagnosed for being different from or unresponsive to out-of-school in whatever capacity, needs not necessarily lead to discontinuity and how intended or researcher-observed similarity does not necessarily equal continuity.

Taking multisystemic research on learning a step further calls for new methodological designs suitable for capturing openended learning within and across different contexts. Specifically complex here is that the kind of contexts relevant to include likely differ per student and his or her specific life ecology (Barron, 2006) and, therefore, cannot easily be defined upfront. We take the designs of the reviewed studies as but a first step in this direction, as many studies address only two purposefully selected and predefined contexts of learning. Tracing individual students' lives and contextualizing activities and opportunities for learning, wherever they appear to be, would be a way forward.

The contemporary debates about school and the critical stance underlying most of the reviewed literature may easily give the impression that the current school system is no good. Though it is obviously important to be continuously reflective and critical when it comes to an institution that most people attend from early age on, we should be careful about rejecting the system altogether, before grounding ones' own ideology (e.g., of creativity, flexibility) in favor of the multitude of existing ones. What we need is a balanced debate, cognizant that school can never be a simple solution to all our societal problems.

#### Acknowledgements

The reported study was financed by the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO), in particular its program The Netherlands Initiative for Education Research (Reference number 411-12-243). We would like to thank Carolien Duijzer for her help with data collection.

## Appendix A

\_

Type of learners, level and subject of education in reviewed studies.

Typifications of learners in the studies level and subject of education		Low achieving, at risk, or minority group	High achieving or talented	Regular, representative or not specified
Preschool	Literacy Other	Pretorius and Naude (2002)		Cohen and Uhry (2011)
Primary education	Academic skills & achievement Creative	Ghee et al. (1997); Sah and Borland (1989) Maddock et al. (2007)	Sah and Borland (1989)	Cohen (2011); Smithrim and Upitis (2005)
	History Literacy	Al-Azami et al. (2010); Bussert-Webb (2009); Condron (2009); Downey, von Hippel, and Broh (2004); Gutierrez et al. (2011); Jenner and Jenner (2007); Juel (1988); Kenner et al. (2008); Kenner and Ruby (2013); Knubb-Manninen (1988); Li (2010); Mariage (2000); McTavish (2009); McTavish et al. (2012); Milian and Pearson (2005); Smythe and Toohey (2009); Tucker et al. (1995)		Cox-Petersen et al. (2003); Polman (2006) Blanton Moorman, Hayes and Warner (1997); Blanton et al. (2003); Condron (2009); de la Piedra and Araujo (2012); Downey et al. (2004); Feiler (2005); Feiler et al. (2006); Hobbs (2013); Kennedy (2008); Knubb-Manninen (1988); Lacasa et al. (2002); Lenters and McTavish (2013); Maloch (2005); McDonald et al. (2011); Moss (2000); Sherwood et al. (1987)
	Music education			Juvonen (2011); Lamont, Daubney, and Spruce (2012); Portowitz, Gonzalez- Moreno, and Hendricks (2010)
	STEM	Andrews and Yee (2006); Ash (2004); Bussert-Webb (2009); Condron (2009); Downey et al. (2004); Duran et al. (2001); Jenner and Jenner (2007); Miller and Gentry (2010); Tucker et al. (1995); Turner, Gutierrez, Simic-Muller, and Diez-Palomar (2009); Varelas et al. (2011)	Miller and Gentry (2010); Randler et al. (2012)	Anderson et al. (2000); Baumert, Evans, and Geiser (1998); Blanton et al. (1997); Bonotto (2005); Condron (2009); Dori and Tal (2000); Downey et al. (2004); Eloff, Maree, and Miller (2006); Feiler et al. (2006); Holmes (2011); Kliman (2006) Solomon (2003); Tal and Morag (2007); Tran (2007); Vedder-Weiss and Fortus (2013); Zimmerman (2012)
	Other school or out-of school subjects or general learning processes	Alexander et al. (2001); Cheadle (2009); Guberman (2004); Jenner and Jenner (2007); McCreary et al. (2011); St. Pierre and Kaltreider (2001); Powell and Peet (2008); Walker and Nocon (2007)	Moon, Swift, and Shallenberger (2002)	Alexander et al. (2001); Bailey and Thompson (2008); Fields and Kafai (2009); Ghiso and Campano (2013); Hung et al. (2012); James-Burdumy et al. (2007); Poveda (2001); So, Seow, and Looi (2009); van Kraayenoord and Paris (1997)
Secondary education	Academic skills & achievement	Brown-Wright and Tyler (2010); Ghee et al. (1997); Langberg et al. (2006); Tyler et al. (2010)		Miguel and Crowe (1983)
	Creative development History	Maddock et al. (2007)		Cohen (2011); Kan (2008) Barton and Levstik (1998); Barton and
	Literacy	Hall (2007); Hallman (2009); Moje, Dillion, and O'Brien (2000); Naidoo (2009); Skerrett (2012); Tucker et al. (1995); Walsh (2007); Yi (2005)		McCully (2010); Polman (2006) Evans and Rosenbaum (2008); Heron-Hruby et al. (2008); Keith, Diamond-Hallam, and Fine (2004); Knapp (2002); Lantz-Andersson et al. (2013); Leander and Lovvorn (2006); Moss (2000); Murtagh (2007); Roth and Lee (2004); Sherwood et al. (1987); Skerrett and Bomer (2011); Sturtevant and Kim (2010); Tal and Morag (2007); Taylor and Leasthermar (2011); Tay (2009)
	Music Education			Campbell et al. (2007); Cassidy and Paisley (2013); Hentschke (2010); Juvonen (2011); McPhail (2013): Portowitz et al. (2010)
	STEM	Al-Balhan (2008); Boaler (1998); Bruyere, Wesson, and Teel (2012); Furman and Barton (2006); Hock et al. (2001); Kozoll and Osborne (2004); Tucker et al. (1995)	Matthews and Farmer (2008); Sellmann and Bogner (2013)	Barron (2004); Ben-David Kolikant (2012); Brotman et al. (2011); Ciani, Ferguson, Bergin, and Hilpert (2010); Clark et al. (2009); Evans and Rosenbaum (2008); Fuligni and Stevenson (1995); Gennaro, Hereid, and Ostlund (1986); George (1999); Glowinski and Bayrhuber (2011); Grolnick et al. (2007); Hughes and Gadanidis (2010);

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Typifications of learners in the studies level and subject of education		Low achieving, at risk, or minority group	High achieving or talented	Regular, representative or not specified
	Other school or out-of school subjects or general learning processes	Bergin (1989); Choi (2009); Delgado-Gaitan (1993); Demerath et al. (2010); Greenhow and Robelia (2009) Mayer, Quilici, and Moreno (1999); Polman and Miller (2010); Relano Pastor (2010); Simpkins, Delgado, Price, Quach, & Starbuck, 2013; Walker and Nocon (2007)	Delcourt (1993); Demerath et al. (2010); Geier and Bogner (2010)	Kass and Macdonald (1999); Keith et al. (2004); Kliman (2006); Martin and Gourley- Delaney (2013); Nielsen et al. (2009); Papaioannou (1997); Pugh (2004); Reynolds and Chiu (2013); Rose and Barton (2012); Tamir (1991); Vedder-Weiss and Fortus (2013); Walkington (2013); Walkington, Petrosino, and Sherman (2013); Xiao and Carroll (2007); Zimmerman (2012) Alexander, Entwisle, and Olson (2007); Bailey and Thompson (2008); Bergin (1996); Chen & Chen (2014); Chen and Shen (2004); Fields and Kafai (2009); Hoskins et al. (2012); Hung et al. (2012); Koka and Hein (2003); Miller (2012); Phelan et al. (1991)
Vocational education	Academic skills & achievement Other			Miguel and Crowe (1983) Alexander et al. (2007); Berner (2010); de Lange (2011); Harris and Simons (2006); Hildebrand et al. (2009); Tanggaard (2007)
Higher education	Academic skills & achievement	Clachar (2004)		Derous and Ryan (2008); Hendel (1985)
	Literacy	Abukari and Laser (2013)		Abukari and Laser (2013); Gu and Tong (2012)
	Music education STEM	Abukari and Laser (2013)		Feichas (2010) Abukari and Laser (2013); Barron (2006); Smith (2005)
	Other subjects or general	Abukari and Laser (2013); Boulton-Lewis, Marton, Lewis, and Wilss (2000)		Alexander et al. (2007); Abukari and Laser (2013); Leeman et al.
Teacher education	Literacy Music education			Skerrett (2010); Finney (2010); Wright and Kanellopoulos
	STEM Other subjects or general learning processes	Grineski (2003)		(2010) Ensor (2001); Aström (2012); ;Blanton, Simmons, and Warner (2001) Johansson and Sandberg (2012); McNamee (1995); Nolen et al. (2011); Perry et al. (2006); Tsui and Law (2007)
Professional/adult education	Literacy	Rogers (2004)		Jones and Taylor (2009)

Note. Studies can address more than one level and subject of education, as well as different groups of learners simultaneously.

#### **References**\*

\*Abukari, Z., & Laser, J. A. (2013). Gender differences in academic outcomes among Ghanaian youth: the role of protective and risk factors. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 41, 117–138.

Akkerman, S. F., & Bakker, A. (2011). Boundary crossing and boundary objects. Review of Educational Research, 81(2), 132-169.

- Akkerman, S. F., & Bakker, A. (2012). Crossing boundaries between school and work during apprenticeships. Vocations and Learning, 5(2), 153-173.
- Akkerman, S. F., & Eijck, M. (2013). Re-theorising the student dialogically across and between boundaries of multiple communities. *British Educational Research Journal*, 39(1), 60–72.

\*Al-Azami, S., Kenner, C., Ruby, M., & Gregory, E. (2010). Transliteration as a bridge to learning for bilingual children. International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism, 13, 683-700.

\*Al-Balhan, E. M. (2008). The student style questionnaire in relation to improved academic scores in Kuwaiti middle school science classes. Social Behavior and Personality, 36, 217–228.

\*Alexander, K. L., Entwisle, D. R., & Olson, L. S. (2001). Schools, achievement, and inequality: a seasonal perspective. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 23, 171–191.

\*Alexander, K. L., Entwisle, D. R., & Olson, L. S. (2007). Lasting consequences of the summer learning gap. *American Sociological Review*, 72(2), 167–180. Alsup, J. (2006). *Teacher identity discourses. Negotiating personal and professional spaces.* Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

\* Reviewed studies.

- \*Anderson, D., Lucas, K. B., Ginns, I. S., & Dierking, L. D. (2000). Development of knowledge about electricity and magnetism during a visit to a science museum and related post-visit activities. *Science Education*, *84*, 658–679.
- \*Andrews, J., & Yee, W. C. (2006). Children's 'funds of knowledge' and their real life activities: two minority ethnic children learning in out-of-school contexts in the UK. *Educational Review*, 58, 435–449.
- \*Ash, D. (2004). Reflective scientific sense-making dialogue in two languages: the science in the dialogue and the dialogue in the science. *Science Education*, 88, 855–884.
- \*Aström, P. (2012). Teachers' discursive representation of pupils "low motivated" for physical education and health. EJSS European Journal for Sport and Society, 9, 119–138.
- \*Bailey, M., & Thompson, P. (2008). "It makes you feel a bit more free": interpreting students' views of study support. Educational Review, 60, 283–297. \*Barron, B. (2004). Learning ecologies for the technological fluency: gender and experience differences. Journal of Educational Computing Research, 31, 1–36.
- \*Barron, B. (2006). Interest and self-sustained learning as catalysts of development: a learning ecology perspective. Human Development, 49, 193–224.
- \*Barton, K. C., & Levstik, L. S. (1998). "It wasn't a good part of history": national identity and students' explanations of historical significance. Teachers College Record, 99, 478–513.
- \*Barton, K. C., & McCully, A. W. (2010). "You can form your own point of view": internally persuasive discourse in Northern Ireland students' encounters with history. *Teachers College Record*, 112, 142–181.
- \*Baumert, J., Evans, R. H., & Geiser, H. (1998). Technical problem solving among 10-year-old students as related to science achievement, out-of-school experience, domain-specific control beliefs, and attribution patterns. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 35, 987–1013.
- \*Ben-David Kolikant, Y. (2012). Using ICT for school purposes: is there a student-school disconnect? Computers & Education, 59, 907-914.
- \*Bergin, D. A. (1989). Student goals for out-of-school learning activities. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 4, 92–109.
- \*Bergin, D. A. (1992). Leisure activity, motivation, and academic achievement in high school students. Journal of Leisure Research, 24, 225-239.
- \*Bergin, D. A. (1996). Adolescents" out-of-school learning strategies. Journal of Experimental Education, 64, 309-323.
- \*Berner, B. (2010). Crossing boundaries and maintaining differences between school and industry: forms of boundary-work in Swedish vocational education. Journal of Education and Work, 23, 27-42.
- Bevan, B., Bell, P., Stevens, R., & Razfar, A. (Eds.). (2012). LOST opportunities: Learning in out-of-school time. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Biesta, G. J. J. (2010). Good education in an age of measurement: Ethics, politics, democracy. Boulder, CO: Paradigm.
- \*Blanton, W. E., Menendez, R., Moorman, G. B., & Pacifici, L. C. (2003). Learning to comprehend written directions through participation in a mixed activity system. *Early Education and Development*, 14, 313–333.
- \*Blanton, W. E., Moorman, G. B., Hayes, B. A., & Warner, M. L. (1997). Effects of participation in the fifth dimension on far transfer. Journal of Educational Computing Research, 16, 371–396.
- \*Blanton, W. E., Simmons, E., & Warner, M. (2001). The fifth dimension: application of cultural-historical activity theory, inquiry-based learning, computers, and telecommunications to change prospective teachers' preconceptions. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 24, 435–463.
- \*Boaler, J. (1998). Alternative approaches to teaching, learning and assessing mathematics. Evaluation and Program Planning, 21, 129–141.
- \*Bonotto, C. (2005). How informal out-of-school mathematics can help students make sense of formal in-school mathematics: the case of multiplying by decimal numbers. *Mathematical Thinking and Learning*, 7, 313–344.
- \*Boulton-Lewis, G. M., Marton, F., Lewis, D. C., & Wilss, L. A. (2000). Learning in formal and informal contexts: conceptions and strategies of Aboriginal and Torres Strait islander university students. *Learning and Instruction*, 10, 393-414.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- \*Brotman, J. S., Mensah, F. M., & Lesko, N. (2011). Urban high school students' learning about HIV/AIDS in different contexts. *Science Education*, 95, 87–120.
  \*Brown-Wright, L., & Tyler, K. M. (2010). The effects of home-school dissonance on African American male high school students. *Journal of Negro Education*, 79, 125–136.
- \*Bruyere, B. L., Wesson, M., & Teel, T. (2012). Incorporating environmental education into an urban after-school program in New York City. International Journal of Environmental and Science Education, 7, 327–341.
- \*Bussert-Webb, K. (2009). ?Que hago? Latino/a children describe their activities in an "exemplary" school. Journal of Latinos and Education, 8, 38-54.
- \*Campbell, P. S., Connell, C., & Beegle, A. (2007). Adolescents' expressed meanings of music in and out of school. Journal of Research in Music Education, 55, 220–236.
- \*Carretero, M., & Kriger, M. (2011). Historical representations and conflicts about indigenous people as national identities. *Culture & Psychology*, 17, 177–195. \*Cassidy, G. G., & Paisley, A. M. J. M. (2013). Music-games: a case study of their impact. *Research Studies in Music Education*, 35, 119–138.
- \*Cheadle, J. E. (2009). Parent educational investment and children's general knowledge development. Social Science Research, 38, 477-491.
- \*Chen, S., & Chen, A. (2014). Ninth graders' learning differences in a healthful-living curriculum. Learning and Individual Differences, 30, 170-176.
- \*Chen, A., & Shen, B. (2004). A web of achieving in physical education: goals, interest, outside-school activity and learning. Learning and Individual Differences, 14, 169–182.
- \*Choi, J. (2009). Asian English language learners' identity construction in an after school literacy site. *Journal of Asian Pacific Communication*, 19(1), 130–161. \*Ciani, K., Ferguson, Y., Bergin, D., & Hilpert, J. (2010). Motivational influences on school-prompted interest. *Educational Psychology*, 30, 377–393.
- \*Clachar, A. (2004). Creole discourse effects on the speech conjunctive system in expository texts. *Journal of Pragmatics*, 36, 1827–1850.
- \*Clark, W., Logan, K., Luckin, R., Mee, A., & Oliver, M. (2009). Beyond web 2.0: mapping the technology landscapes of young learners. Journal of Computer Assisted Learning, 25, 56-69.
- \*Cohen, L. M. (2011). Natural acceleration: supporting creative trajectories. Roeper Review: A Journal on Gifted Education, 33, 218–227.
- \*Cohen, L., & Uhry, J. (2011). Naming block structures: a multimodal approach. Early Childhood Education Journal, 39, 79–87.
- Cole, M., & Distributive Literacy Consortium. (2006). The Fifth Dimension: An after-school program built on diversity. New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation. \*Condron, D. J. (2009). Social class, school and non-school environments, and black/white inequalities in children's learning. American Sociological Review, 74, 683–708.
- \*Cox-Petersen, A. M., Marsh, D. D., Kisiel, J., & Melber, L. M. (2003). Investigation of guided school tours, student learning, and science reform recommendations at a museum of natural history. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 40, 200–218.
- \*Crowley, K., & Jacobs, M. (2002). Building islands of expertise in everyday family activity. In G. Leinhardt, K. Crowley, & K. Knutson (Eds.), *Learning conversations in museums* (pp. 333–356). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- \*Delcourt, M. A. (1993). Creative productivity among secondary school students: combining energy, interest, and imagination. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 37, 23–31.
- \*Delgado-Gaitan, C. (1988). The value of conformity: learning to stay in school. Anthropology & Education Quarterly, 19, 354–381.
- \*Demerath, P., Lynch, J., Milner, H. R. I., Peters, A., & Davidson, M. (2010). Decoding success: a middle-class logic of individual advancement in a U.S. suburb and high school. *Teachers College Record*, *112*, 2935–2987.
- \*Derous, E., & Ryan, A. M. (2008). When earning is beneficial for learning: the relation of employment and leisure activities to academic outcomes. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 73, 118–131.
- \*Dori, Y. J., & Tal, R. T. (2000). Formal and informal collaborative projects: engaging in industry with environmental awareness. *Science Education*, 84, 95–113.
- \*Downey, D. B., von Hippel, P. T., & Broh, B. A. (2004). Are schools the great equalizer? Cognitive inequality during the summer months and the school year. American Sociological Review, 69, 613-635.
- \*Duran, R., Duran, J., Perry-Romero, D., & Sanchez, E. (2001). Latino immigrant parents and children learning and publishing together in an after-school setting. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk*, 6, 95–113.

\*Eloff, I., Maree, J. G., & Miller, L. H. (2006). The role of parents' learning facilitation mode in supporting informal learning in mathematics. *Early Child Development and Care*, 176, 313–328.

Engeström, Y. (1987). Learning by expanding. An activity-theoretical approach to developmental research. Helsinki, Finland: Orienta-Konsultit.

Engeström, Y. (2001). Expansive learning at work: toward an activity theoretical reconceptualization. Journal of Education and Work, 14, 133-156.

Engeström, Y. (2009). From learning environments and implementation to activity systems and expansive learning. Actio: An International Journal of Human Activity Theory, 2, 17–33.

\*Ensor, P. (2001). From preservice mathematics teacher education to beginning teaching: a study in recontextualizing. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, 32, 296–320.

\*Evans, G. W., & Rosenbaum, J. (2008). Self-regulation and the income-achievement gap. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 23, 504-514.

\*Feichas, H. (2010). Bridging the gap: informal learning practices as a pedagogy of integration. British Journal of Music Education, 27, 47–58.

\*Feiler, A. (2005). Linking home and school literacy in an inner city reception class. Journal of Early Childhood Literacy, 5, 131–149.

\*Feiler, A., Greenhough, P., Winter, J., Salway, L., & Scanlan, M. (2006). Getting engaged: possibilities and problems for home-school knowledge exchange. Educational Review, 58, 451-469.

\*Fields, D. A., & Kafai, Y. B. (2009). A connective ethnography of peer knowledge sharing and diffusion in a tween virtual world. International Journal of Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning, 4, 47–68.

\*Finney, J., & Philpott, C. (2010). Informal learning and meta-pedagogy in initial teacher education in England. *British Journal of Music Education*, 27, 7–19. \*Fuligni, A. J., & Stevenson, H. W. (1995). Time use and mathematics achievement among American, Chinese, and Japanese high school students. *Child Development*, 66, 830–842.

\*Furman, M., & Barton, A. C. (2006). Capturing urban student voices in the creation of a science mini-documentary. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 43, 667–694.

\*Geier, C. S., & Bogner, F. X. (2010). Student-centred anti-smoking education: comparing a classroom-based and an out-of-school setting. Learning Environments Research, 13, 147–157.

\*Gennaro, E. D., Hereid, N., & Ostlund, K. (1986). A study of the latent effects of family learning courses in science. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 23, 771–781.

\*George, J. (1999). World view analysis of knowledge in a rural village: implications for science education. Science Education, 83, 77–95.

\*Ghee, K. L., Walker, J., & Younger, A. C. (1997). The RAAMUS academy: evaluation of an edu-cultural intervention for young African-American males. Journal of Prevention & Intervention in the Community. 16. 87–102.

\*Ghiso, M. P., & Campano, G. (2013). Coloniality and education: negotiating discourses of immigration in schools and communities through border thinking. Equity & Excellence in Education, 46, 252–269.

\*Glowinski, I., & Bayrhuber, H. (2011). Student labs on a university campus as a type of out-of-school learning environment: assessing the potential to promote students' interest in science. International Journal of Environmental and Science Education, 6, 371–392.

Granovetter, M. (1983). The strength of weak ties: a network theory revisited. Sociological Theory, 1, 201–233.

\*Greenhow, C., & Robelia, B. (2009). Informal learning and identity formation in online social networks. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 34, 119–140. \*Grineski, S. (2003). A university and community-based partnership: after-school mentoring for low-income youth. *School Community Journal*, 13(1),

101–114. \*Grolnick, W. S., Farkas, M. S., Sohmer, R., Michaels, S., & Valsiner, J. (2007). Facilitating motivation in young adolescents: effects of an after-school program. Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology, 28, 332–344.

\*Guberman, S. R. (2004). A comparative study of children's out-of-school activities and arithmetical achievements. Journal for Research in Mathematics Education, 35, 117–150.

\*Gutierrez, K. D., Bien, A. C., Selland, M. K., & Pierce, D. M. (2011). Polylingual and polycultural learning ecologies: mediating emergent academic literacies for dual language learners. *Journal of Early Childhood Literacy*, 11, 232–261.

\*Gu, M. M., & Tong, H. K. (2012). Space, scale and languages: identity construction of cross-boundary students in a multilingual university in Hong Kong. Language and Education, 26, 501–515.

\*Hall, L. A. (2007). Understanding the silence: struggling readers discuss decisions about reading expository text. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 100, 132–141.

\*Hallman, H. L. (2009). "Dear Tupac, you speak to me": recruiting hip hop as curriculum at a school for pregnant and parenting teens. Equity & Excellence in Education, 42, 36–51.

\*Harris, R., & Simons, M. (2006). VET practitioners working with private enterprises: a "third space"? Journal of Workplace Learning, 18, 478-494.

\*Hattam, R., & Smyth, J. (2003). Not everyone has a perfect life: becoming somebody without school. Pedagogy, Culture and Society, 11, 379-398.

\*Hendel, D. D. (1985). Effects of individualized and structured college curricula on students' performance and satisfaction. *American Educational Research Journal*, 22, 117–122.

\*Hentschke, L. (2010). Students' motivation to study music: the Brazilian context. Research Studies in Music Education, 32, 139-154.

Hermans, H. J. M., & Dimaggio, G. (2007). Self, identity, and globalization in times of uncertainty: a dialogical analysis. *Review of General Psychology*, 11, 31-61

\*Heron-Hruby, A., Hagood, M. C., & Alvermann, D. E. (2008). Switching places and looking to adolescents for the practices that shape school literacies. Reading & Writing Quarterly: Overcoming Learning Difficulties, 24, 311–334.

Herrington, A., & Herrington, J. (2006). Authentic learning environments in higher education. Hershey, PA: Information Science Publishing.

\*Hildebrand, J. M., Spafford, M. M., & Schryer, C. F. (2009). Attending to audience: comparing optometry student talk with and about patients. Advances in Health Sciences Education, 14, 777–789.

\*Hobbs, R. (2013). Improvization and strategic risk-taking in informal learning with digital media literacy. *Learning, Media and Technology,* 38, 182–197. \*Hock, M. F., Pulvers, K. A., Deshler, D. D., & Schumaker, J. B. (2001). The effects of an after-school tutoring program on the academic performance of at-risk students and students with LD. *Remedial and Special Education,* 22, 172–186.

Hodkinson, P., & Macleod, F. (2010). Contrasting concepts of learning and contrasting research methodologies: affinities and bias. British Educational Research Journal, 36(2), 173-189.

\*Holmes, J. A. (2011). Informal learning: student achievement and motivation in science through museum-based learning. *Learning Environments Research*, 14, 263–277.

\*Hoskins, B., Janmaat, J. G., & Villalba, E. (2012). Learning citizenship through social participation outside and inside school: an international, multilevel study of young people's learning of citizenship. *British Educational Research Journal*, 38, 419–446.

\*Hughes, J., & Gadanidis, G. (2010). Learning as community service: thinking with new media. Journal of Educational Multimedia and Hypermedia, 19, 287–306.

\*Hughes, M., & Greenhough, P. (2008). 'We do it a different way at my school': mathematics homework as a site for tension and conflict. In A. Watson, & P. Winbourne (Eds.), New directions for situated cognition in mathematics education (pp. 129–151). New York, NY: Springer.

Hull, G., & Schultz, K. (2001). Literacy and learning out of school: a review of theory and research. Review of Educational Research, 71, 575-611.

Hull, G., & Schultz, K. (2002). School's out! Bridging out-of-school literacies with classroom practices. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.

\*Hung, D., Lee, S., & Lim, K. Y. T. (2012). Authenticity in learning for the twenty-first century: bridging the formal and the informal. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 60, 1071–1091.

Jackson, K. (2011). Approaching participation in school-based mathematics as a cross-setting phenomenon. Journal of the Learning Sciences, 20, 111–150. \*James-Burdumy, S., Dynarski, M., & Deke, J. (2007). When elementary schools stay open late: results from the national evaluation of the 21st century community learning centers program. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 29, 296–318.

- \*Jenner, E., & Jenner, L. W. (2007). Results from a first-year evaluation of academic impacts of an after-school program for at-risk students. Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk, 12, 213–237.
- \*lohansson, I., & Sandberg, A. (2012). Learning and knowledge development in preschool teacher education and practicum, Early Child Development and Care. 182, 907-920.
- Jones, M. G., & Taylor, A. R. (2009). Developing a sense of scale: looking backward. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 46, 460-475.
- \*Juel, C. (1988). Learning to read and write: a longitudinal study of 54 children from first through fourth grades. Journal of Educational Psychology, 80, 437-447
- \*Juvonen, A. (2011). Students' motivation to study music: the Finnish context. Research Studies in Music Education, 33, 73–88.
- \*Kan, K. H. (2008). How Singapore adolescent students cruise the expanding school art milieu. Visual Arts Research, 34, 16-28.
- \*Kass, H., & Macdonald, A. L. (1999). The learning contribution of student self-directed building activity in science. Science Education, 83, 449-471. \*Keith, T. Z., Diamond-Hallam, C., & Fine, J. G. (2004). Longitudinal effects of in-school and out-of-school homework on high school grades. School Psychology
  - Quarterly, 19, 187-211.
- \*Kennedy, R. (2008). Music therapy as a supplemental teaching strategy for kindergarten ESL students. Music Therapy Perspectives, 26, 97–101.
- \*Kenner, C., Gregory, E., Ruby, M., & Al-Azami, S. (2008). Bilingual learning for second and third generation children. Language, Culture and Curriculum, 21, 120-137.
- \*Kenner, C., & Ruby, M. (2013). Connecting children's worlds: creating a multilingual syncretic curriculum through partnership between complementary and mainstream schools. Journal of Early Childhood Literacy, 13, 395-417.
- \*Kliman, M. (2006). Math out of school: families' math game playing at home. School Community Journal, 16(2), 69-90.
- \*Knapp, N. F. (2002). Tom and Joshua: perceptions, conceptions and progress in meaning-based reading instruction. Journal of Literacy Research, 34, 59-98. \*Knubb-Manninen, G. (1988). Cultural background and second language acquisition. Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research, 32, 93–100.
- \*Koka, A., & Hein, V. (2003). The impact of sports participation after school on intrinsic motivation and perceived learning environment in secondary school physical education, *Kinesiology*, 35(1), 5–13.
- \*Kozoll, R. H., & Osborne, M. D. (2004). Finding meaning in science: lifeworld, identity, and self. Science Education, 88, 157-181.
- \*van Kraayenoord, C. E., & Paris, S. G. (1997). Australian students' self-appraisal of their work samples and academic progress. Elementary School Journal, 97, 523-537.
- \*Lacasa, P., Reina, A., & Alburquerque, M. (2002). Adults and children share literacy practices: the case of homework. Linguistics and Education, 13(1), 39-84. \*Lamont, A., Daubney, A., & Spruce, G. (2012). Singing in primary schools: case studies of good practice in whole class vocal tuition. British Journal of Music Education, 29, 251-268.
- \*Langberg, J. M., Smith, B. H., Bogle, K. E., Schmidt, J. D., Cole, W. R., & Pender, C. A. S. (2006). A pilot evaluation of small group challenging horizons program (CHP): a randomized trial. Journal of Applied School Psychology, 23(1), 31-58.
- \*de Lange, T. (2011). Formal and non-formal digital practices: institutionalizing transactional learning spaces in a media classroom. Learning, Media and Technology, 36, 251-275.
- Lankshear, C., & Knobel, M. (Eds.). (2008). Digital literacies: Concepts, policies and practices (Vol. 30). Peter Lang.
- \*Lantz-Andersson, A., Vigmo, S., & Bowen, R. (2013). Crossing boundaries in Facebook: students' framing of language learning activities as extended spaces. International Journal of Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning, 8, 293–312.
- Lauer, P. A., Akiba, M., Wilkerson, S. B., Apthorp, H. S., Snow, D., & Martin-Glenn, M. L. (2006). Out-of-school-time programs: a meta-analysis of effects for atrisk students. Review of Educational Research, 76, 275-313.
- Lave, J., & Wenger, E. (1991). Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge university press.
- Lawson, M. A., & Lawson, H. A. (2013). New conceptual frameworks for student engagement research, policy, and practice. Review of Educational Research, 83, 432-479.
- Leander, K. M. (2001). "This is our freedom bus going home right now": producing and hybridizing space-time contexts in pedagogical discourse. Journal of Literacy Research, 33(4), 637-679.
- \*Leander, K. M., & Lovvorn, J. F. (2006). Literacy networks: following the circulation of texts, bodies, and objects in the schooling and online gaming of one youth. Cognition and Instruction, 24, 291–340.
- \*Leeman, J., Rabin, L., & Roman-Mendoza, E. (2011). Identity and activism in heritage language education. Modern Language Journal, 95, 481–495.
- \*Lenters, K., & McTavish, M. (2013). Student planners in school and out of school: who is managing whom? Literacy, 47, 79–87.
- \*Li, G. (2010). Race, class, and schooling: multicultural families doing the hard work of home literacy in America's inner city. Reading & Writing Quarterly: Overcoming Learning Difficulties, 26, 140–165.
- Ludvigsen, S., Lund, A., Rasmussen, I., & Säljö, R. (Eds.). (2010). Learning across sites; new tools, infrastructures and practices. London, New York: Routledge. \*Maddock, M., Drummond, M. J., Koralek, B., & Nathan, I. (2007). Doing school differently: creative practitioners at work. *Education*, *35*, 47–58, 3-13. \*Maloch, B. (2005). Becoming a "WOW reader": context and continuity in a second grade classroom. *Journal of Classroom Interaction*, *40*(1), 5–17.
- Marcus, G. E. (1995). Ethnography in/of the world system: the emergence of multi-sited ethnography. Annual Review of Anthropology, 24, 95-117.
- \*Mariage, T. V. (2000). Constructing educational possibilities: a sociolinguistic examination of meaning-making in "sharing chair". Learning Disability Quarterly, 23, 79–103.
- \*Martin, L., & Gourley-Delaney, P. (2013). Students' images of mathematics. Instructional Science, 42, 595–614.
- \*Matthews, M. S., & Farmer, J. L. (2008). Factors affecting the algebra I achievement of academically talented learners. Journal of Advanced Academics, 19, 472-501.
- \*Mayer, R. E., Quilici, J. L., & Moreno, R. (1999). What is learned in an after-school computer club? Journal of Educational Computing Research, 20, 223–235. \*McCreary, M. L., Young, J. J., Jones, M. Y., Pasquariello, C. D., Fife, J. E., Grosz, E., et al. (2011). Project IMPPACT: a psycho-educational problem-solving intervention for children. Journal of Instructional Psychology, 38, 124-131.
- \*McDonald, M., Tyson, K., Brayko, K., Bowman, M., Delport, J., & Shimomura, F. (2011). Innovation and impact in teacher education: community-based organizations as field placements for preservice teachers. Teachers College Record, 113, 1668-1700.
- \*McNamee, G. D. (1995). A Vygotskian perspective on literacy development. School Psychology International, 16, 185–198.
- \*McPhail, G. (2013). The canon or the kids: teachers and the recontextualisation of classical and popular music in the secondary school curriculum. Research Studies in Music Education, 35, 7-20.
- \*McTavish, M. (2009). 'I get my facts from the internet': a case study of the teaching and learning of information literacy in in-school and out-of-school contexts. Journal of Early Childhood Literacy, 9, 3-28.
- \*McTavish, M., Streelasky, J., & Coles, L. (2012). Listening to children's voices: children as participants in research. International Journal of Early Childhood, 44, 249-267.
- \*Miguel, R. J., & Crowe, M. R. (1983). Learning through work: a case for academic and personal development. International Review of Applied Psychology, 32, 271-286.
- \*Milian, M., & Pearson, V. (2005). Students with visual impairments in a dual-language program: a case study. Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness, 99, 715 - 720
- \*Miller, P. M. (2012). Community-based education and social capital in an urban after-school program. Education and Urban Society, 44, 35–60.
- \*Miller, R., & Gentry, M. (2010). Developing talents among high-potential students from low-income families in an out-of-school enrichment program. Journal of Advanced Academics, 21, 594-627.
- \*Moje, E. B., Dillion, D. R., & O'Brien, D. (2000). Reexamining roles of learner, text, and context in secondary literacy. The Journal of Educational Research, 93, 165-180.

- \*Moon, S. M., Swift, M., & Shallenberger, A. (2002). Perceptions of a self-contained class for fourth- and fifth-grade students with high to extreme levels of intellectual giftedness. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 46, 64–79.
- \*Moss, G. (2000). Informal literacies and pedagogic discourse. Linguistics and Education, 11, 47–64.
- \*Murtagh, L. (2007). Out-of-school use of Irish, motivation and proficiency in immersion and subject-only post-primary programmes. International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism, 10, 428–453.
- \*Naidoo, L. (2009). Developing social inclusion through after-school homework tutoring: a study of African refugee students in greater western Sydney. British Journal of Sociology of Education, 30, 261–273.
- \*Nielsen, W. S., Nashon, S., & Anderson, D. (2009). Metacognitive engagement during field-trip experiences: a case study of students in an amusement park physics program. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 46, 265–288.
- \*Nolen, S. B., Horn, I. S., Ward, C. J., & Childers, S. A. (2011). Novice teacher learning and motivation across contexts: assessment tools as boundary objects. Cognition and Instruction, 29, 88–122.
- \*Papaioannou, A. (1997). Perceptions of motivational climate, perceived competence, and motivation of students of varying age and sport experience. Perceptual and Motor Skills, 85, 419-430. http://dx.doi.org/10.2466/PMS.85.6.419-430.
- \*Phelan, P., Davidson, A. L., & Cao, H. T. (1991). Students' multiple worlds: negotiating the boundaries of family, peer, and school cultures. Anthropology & Education Quarterly, 22, 224-250.
- \*de la Piedra, M. T., & Araujo, B. (2012). Transfronterizo literacies and content in a dual language classroom. International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism, 15, 705-721. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13670050.2012.699949.
- \*Polman, J. L. (2006). Mastery and appropriation as means to understand the interplay of history learning and identity trajectories. Journal of the Learning Sciences, 15, 221-259.
- \*Polman, J. L., & Miller, D. (2010). Changing stories: trajectories of identification among African American youth in a science outreach apprenticeship. American Educational Research Journal, 47, 879–918.
- \*Portowitz, A., Gonzalez-Moreno, P. A., & Hendricks, K. S. (2010). Students' motivation to study music: Israel. Research Studies in Music Education, 32, 169-184
- \*Poveda, D. (2001). La Ronda in a Spanish kindergarten classroom with a cross-cultural comparison to sharing time in the U.S.A. Anthropology & Education Quarterly, 32, 301–325.
- \*Powell, D. R., & Peet, S. H. (2008). Development and outcomes of a community-based intervention to improve parents' use of inquiry in informal learning contexts. Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology, 29, 259–273.
- \*Pretorius, E., & Naude, H. (2002). Results from an empirical study: the impact of carrying a child on the back on the development of visual integration pathways. Early Child Development and Care, 172, 585–594.
- \*Pugh, K. J. (2004). Newton's laws beyond the classroom walls. Science Education, 88, 182-196.
- \*Randler, C., Kummer, B., & Wilhelm, C. (2012). Adolescent learning in the zoo: embedding a non-formal learning environment to teach formal aspects of vertebrate biology. Journal of Science Education and Technology, 21, 384–391. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10956-011-9331-2.
- \*Relano Pastor, A. M. (2010). Ethnic categorization and moral agency in 'fitting in' narratives among Madrid immigrant students. *Narrative Inquiry*, 20, 82–105.
- \*Reynolds, R., & Chiu, M. M. (2013). Formal and informal context factors as contributors to student engagement in a guided discovery-based program of game design learning. Learning, Media and Technology, 38, 429–462.
- Robinson, K. (2011). Out of our minds: Learning to be creative (2nd ed.). West Sussex, UK: Capstone.
- \*Rogers, R. (2004). Storied selves: a critical discourse analysis of adult learners' literate lives. Reading Research Quarterly, 39, 272–305.
- Rogoff, B. (2003). The cultural nature of human development. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- \*Rose, S. L, & Barton, A. C. (2012). Should great lakes city build a new power plant? How youth navigate socioscientific issues. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 49, 541–567.
- Roth, W. M. (2015). Schooling is the problem: a plaidoyer for its deinstitutionalization. Canadian Journal of Science, Mathematics and Technology Education, 15(3), 315–331.
- \*Roth, W., & Lee, S. (2004). Science education as/for participation in the community. Science Education, 88, 263-291.
- Roth, W., & Lee, Y. (2007). "Vygotsky's neglected legacy": cultural-historical activity theory. Review of Educational Research, 77, 186–232.
- \*Sah, A., & Borland, J. H. (1989). The effects of a structured home plan on the home and school behaviors of gifted learning-disabled students with deficits in organizational skills. *Roeper Review: A Journal on Gifted Education*, 12, 54–57.
- \*Sellmann, D., & Bogner, F. X. (2013). Climate change education: quantitatively assessing the impact of a botanical garden as an informal learning environment. *Environmental Education Research*, 19, 415–429.
- \*Sherwood, R. D., Kinzer, C. K., Hasselbring, T. S., & Bransford, J. D. (1987). Macro-contexts for learning: initial findings and issues. Applied Cognitive Psychology, 1, 93–108.
- Siemens, G. (2014). Connectivism: A learning theory for the digital age. Retrieved November 28, 2014 from http://er.dut.ac.za/handle/123456789/69.
- \*Simpkins, S. D., Delgado, M. Y., Price, C. D., Quach, A., & Starbuck, E. (2013). Socioeconomic status, ethnicity, culture, and immigration: examining the potential mechanisms underlying Mexican-origin adolescents' organized activity participation. *Developmental Psychology*, 49, 706–721.
- \*Skerrett, A. (2010). Lolita, Facebook, and the third space of literacy teacher education. Educational Studies: Journal of the American Educational Studies Association, 46, 67–84.
- \*Skerrett, A. (2012). "We hatched in this class": repositioning of identity in and beyond a reading classroom. High School Journal, 95(3), 62-75.
- \*Skerrett, A., & Bomer, R. (2011). Borderzones in adolescents' literacy practices: connecting out-of-school literacies to the reading curriculum. Urban Education, 46, 1256–1279.
- \*Smith, L. K. (2005). The impact of early life history on teachers' beliefs: in-school and out-of-school experiences as learners and knowers of science. Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice, 11(1), 5–36.
- \*Smithrim, K., & Upitis, R. (2005). Learning through the arts: lessons of engagement. Canadian Journal of Education, 28, 109-127.
- \*Smythe, S., & Toohey, K. (2009). Investigating sociohistorical contexts and practices through a community scan: a Canadian Punjabi-Sikh example. Language and Education, 23, 37–57.
- \*Solomon, J. (2003). Home-school learning of science: the culture of homes, and pupils' difficult border crossing. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 40, 219–233.
- \*So, H., Seow, P., & Looi, C. K. (2009). Location matters: leveraging knowledge building with mobile devices and web 2.0 technology. Interactive Learning Environments, 17, 367-382.
- \*St. Pierre, T. L., & Kaltreider, D. L. (2001). Reflections on implementing a community agency-school prevention program. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 29, 107–116.
- Star, S. L. (1989). The structure of ill-structured solutions: boundary objects and heterogeneous distributed problem solving. In L. Gasser, & M. Huhns (Eds.), Distributed artificial intelligence (pp. 37–54). San Mateo, CA: Morgan Kaufmann.
- \*Sturtevant, E. G., & Kim, G. S. (2010). Literacy motivation and school/non-school literacies among students enrolled in a middle-school ESOL program. Literacy Research and Instruction, 49, 68–85.
- Suchman, L. (1994). Working relations of technology production and use. Computer Supported Cooperative Work, 2, 21–39.
- \*Tal, T., & Morag, O. (2007). School visits to natural history museums: teaching or enriching? Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 44, 747–769.
- \*Tamir, P. (1991). Factors associated with the relationship between formal, informal, and nonformal science learning. *Journal of Environmental Education*, 22(2), 34–42.

- \*Tanggaard, L. (2007). Learning at trade vocational school and learning at work: boundary crossing in apprentices' everyday life. Journal of Education & Work, 20, 453-466.
- \*Taylor, L. K., & Hoechsmann, M. (2011). Beyond intellectual insularity: multicultural literacy as a measure of respect. Canadian Journal of Education, 34. 219-238
- Teo, P. (2008). Outside in/inside out: bridging the gap in literacy education in Singapore classrooms. Language and Education, 22, 411-431.
- \*Tran, L. U. (2007). Teaching science in museums: the pedagogy and goals of museum educators. Science Education, 91, 278-297.
- \*Tsui, A. B. M., & Law, D. Y. K. (2007). Learning as boundary-crossing in school-university partnership. Teaching and Teacher Education, 23, 1289–1301.
- \*Tucker, C. M., Chennault, S. A., Brady, B. A., & Fraser, K. P. (1995). A parent, community, public schools, and university involved partnership education program to examine and boost academic achievement and adaptive functioning skills of African-American students. Journal of Research and Development in Education, 28, 174-185.
- Tuomi-Gröhn, T., & Engeström, Y. (2003). Between school and work: New perspectives on transfer and boundary-crossing. Amsterdam: Pergamon.
- \*Turner, E. E., Gutierrez, M. V., Simic-Muller, K., & Diez-Palomar, J. (2009). "Everything is math in the whole world": integratin g critical and community knowledge in authentic mathematical investigations with elementary Latina/o students. Mathematical Thinking and Learning, 11, 136–157.
- \*Tyler, K., Brown-Wright, L., Stevens-Watkins, D., Thomas, D., Stevens, R., Roan-Belle, C., et al. (2010). Linking home-school dissonance to school-based outcomes for African American high school students. Journal of Black Psychology, 36, 410–425.
- Tynjälä, P. (2013). Toward a 3-P model of workplace learning: a literature review. Vocations and Learning, 6(1), 11-36.
- Valsiner, J., & Van der Veer, R. (2000). The social mind: Construction of the idea. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- \*Varelas, M., Kane, J. M., & Wylie, C. D. (2011). Young African American children's representations of self, science, and school: making sense of difference. Science Education, 95, 824-851.
- \*Vedder-Weiss, D., & Fortus, D. (2013). School, teacher, peers, and parents' goals emphases and adolescents' motivation to learn science in and out of school. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 50, 952–988.
- \*Walker, D., & Nocon, H. (2007). Boundary-crossing competence: theoretical considerations and educational design. Mind, Culture, and Activity, 14, 178–195. \*Walkington, C. A. (2013). Using adaptive learning technologies to personalize instruction to student interests: the impact of relevant contexts on performance and learning outcomes. Journal of Educational Psychology, 105, 932-945.
- \*Walkington, C. A., Petrosino, A., & Sherman, M. (2013). Supporting algebraic reasoning through personalized story scenarios: how situational understanding mediates performance. Mathematical Thinking and Learning, 15, 89–120.
- \*Walsh, C. S. (2007). Creativity as capital in the literacy classroom: youth as multimodal designers. *Literacy*, *41*, 79–85. Wertsch, J. V. (1991). *Voices of the mind*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- \*Wright, R., & Kanellopoulos, P. (2010). Informal music learning, improvisation and teacher education. British Journal of Music Education, 27, 71-87.
- \*Xiao, L., & Carroll, J. M. (2007). Fostering an informal learning community of computer technologies at school. Behaviour & Information Technology, 26, 23-36.
- \*Yi, Y. (2005). Asian adolescents' out-of-school encounters with English and Korean literacy. Journal of Asian Pacific Communication, 15(1), 57–77.
- \*Zimmerman, H. T. (2012). Participating in science at home: recognition work and learning in biology. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 49, 597–630.